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FAMOUS PEAL RINGING TOWERS

By CANON K. W. H. FELSTEAD

N page 236 of “The Ringing World” of
a 1956 appeared an article with the above title
which gave a list of the towers where more
than 150 peals had been rung. A corre-
spondent has recently asked for the number
of peals rung in his tower and for the names
of the towers where more peals had been
rung. This has led me to think that ringers
might be interested to see the present position
of the League Table (as it were). Before giv-
ing the list, a few brief comments may be
pertinent. In 1956 there were three towers
above the 500 mark, now there are five. There
were none in the 400’s, now there is one.
Between 300 and 400 there were 10, now there
are 17. Over 250, there were 21 (including
the above), now there are 36.

Because numbers have increased, the list
below gives all the towers with more than
250 peals (and not, as last time, more than
150). In brackets, | have put the 1956 totals
and also the position they then held in the
“league.” The figures include the peals which
have been published up to “The Ringing
World” of September 22nd.

Loughborough Bell Foundry lg?g E625, 1st

Erith 507, 3rd)
Birmingham Cathedral 605 (257, 19th
Crayford 535 (514, 2n
Willesden 523 (323, 7th
Birmingham, St. Martin 421 (354, 4th
Beddington 374 (308, 10th
Hazel Grove...oonn 373 (232, 28th
Brighton, St. Peter .. 370 (330, 5th
Burton-on-Trent, St. Paul .. 365 (326, 6th
Hughenden 363 (298, 14th
Bushey ... . 351 (265, 17th
Debenham 342 (293, 16th
Warnham .. 336 (320, 8th
Ashton-under-Lyne, St. 334 (164, 66th
Guildford, Holy Trinity .. 333 (301, 12th
Crawley 328 (316 9thg
Ashtead .

Appleton

Ipswich, St. Mary le Tower 319 (306, 1lth
Leicester Cathedral 318 (190, 49th
Leiston e 316 (301, 13th

North Stoneham
Duffield

Aston-juxta-Birmingham 293 (235, 26th)
Bristol, St. Stephen 288 (226, 31st)
Framsden 287 (255, 20th)

Worsley 275 (207, 39th
Ashton-u-Lyne, St. Michael 274 (166, 65th
Southwark “Cathedral 271 (228, 30th
Lewes 268 (248, 23rd)
Walsall e 267 (215, 34th
Hethersett 266 (202, 43rd)

Chesterfield 261 (253, 21st§
Helmingham... 25th

Isleworth 250 (194, 46th)

| suppose the most noticeable feature is
the change in position of certain towers,
especially = Ashton-under-Lyne.  Also in the
list are one or two towers which don't often
appear at all these days, e.g. Leiston—a re-
minder that the hey-day of some are in the
past.

SIX- AND FIVE-BELL TOWERS

As in the article 11 years ago, 6- and 5-bell
ringers might like to see the position of their
towers. Eleven years ago, only one 6-bell
tower had passed the 100 mark—Thornham
Magna. Now there are 11 and one of them
was not even mentioned last time in the list
of towers with more than 50 peals—North
Muskham. Here then is the present position
of towers which have passed their century:

Silk Willoughby ..o 149
Thornham Magna
Croft

Stisted 136 g69, 13th

Gamston 131 3, 22nd)

Apsley End )
istaston 113 81, T7th

Darlington, Holy y ..
North Muskham ............ 103 39, 7
Deeping St. Nicholas .. .. 103 61, 23rd)
Bunwell .o, 101 67, 17th)

This list shows that | missed the change of

leadership amongst the 6-bell towers. It took
place on January 16th, 1965, when Sil
Willoughby passed Thornham’s total. The
latter nad held the lead for | don’t know
how long. It reached the 50 mark in 1907

and the 100 in 1922! The second tower to do
so was Croft in 1956 soon after the last article
on this subject ap?eared. So it had a long
time at the head of the division. Now others
are creeping up on it, for peals are few
these days (only three in the past 11 years). In
the list” 11 years ago there were two other
towers in the 90%, and | fear they still remain
there—Wickham Skeith, now 96 (then 93, 3rd),
and Lamberhurst, now 94 (then 92, 4th). Of
the other towers | mentioned last time with
totals between 50 and 100, none have made
very much progress and their totals are little
altered.

As for 5-bell towers, | listed, in 1956, those
which had reached double figures—17 of them.
Warkton then led the way with 32 peals. |
noted in an article in 1959 that Marston had
passed Warkton’s total, and this tower became
the first 5-bell tower to reach the 50 mark in
1963. In this category, | think, my list this
time must be of towers which have reached 15
and not 10 (for there are many that now total

double figures). Here, then, is the table:
Marston e, .. 65 215, 5th§
Warkton ... .. 35 (32, 1st
Barton Segrave 31 (29, 2nd)
Whitney 28 (17, 4th
Pytchley 25 (22, 3rd)
Stockbury 23 V)
Hutton 13, 8th
21 (15, 5th
21 02, 13th
20 (8, w)
19 (13, 8th
.. 19 (13, 8th
Grafton Underwood .. 18 (13, 8th
Kirby Bellars L7 2
Hammerwood .. 16 (9,
Oakley .. 15 (14, Tth
Orlingbury .. 15 512, 13th
Rumburgn .. 15 (11, 16th
Long Buckby .. 15 57, &
Little Houghton .. 15 (8,
Raveningham .. 15 54, V)
Itchingfield . . 15 (3 V)

One final point—I have, of course, confined
myself to peals on towers with 6 and 5 bells
in" the last two categories. One or two have
been augmented since 1956 (e.g. Horsmonden)
and are now omitted even though their totals
of peals of Minor or Doubles may be more
than those mentioned above. Accrington, for
instance, which was a former 6-bell tower,
has now 135 peals of Minor amongst its total

of peals. This is an obvious and outstanding
case. It would be too Ionﬁ a job to divide
up the peals rung in eight and over bell
towers into Minor, Major, etc., and to see

where the most of any category have been
runé; in towers which "have been augmented
(and it is surprising how many have been this
century).

SOUTHWELL DIOCESAN GUILD

The September meeting of the Mansfield
District was held at Selston on the 23rd and
was much enjoyed by all. Conforming to the
usual pattern, the bells were available from
3 p.m. with a service at 4.30. The Rev. H.
V. Simmons joined the company at tea and
afterwards accepted an invitation to chair the
meeting.

The points which emerged were the con-
firmation of the annua! District meeting as
being at Mansfield on January 27th and
appreciation of the work of the respective sec-
letaries in organising the recent highly success-
ful joint outing.

Ringin? continued until 8.30 in methods
ranging from Grandsire to Norwich Surprise.

Next meeting: November 25th, Eastwood.
D.J. B
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The Church of St. Mary-le-Bow, Cheapside, E.C.

BY WILLIAM T. COOK

AMONG the pealable rings of England it is

almost certain that none is more famous
throughout the world than “ Bow Bells,” the
bells of St. Mary-le-Bow, Cheapside, London.
They play their part in the legend of Dick
Whittington, “ thrice Lord Mayor of London,"
who is said to have heard them from High-
gate in 1375, and to have been inspired by
their sound to return to London; and there
is the old tradition that to be a true “ Cock-
ney ” one must have been born within the
sound of Bow Bells. In more recent years,
the sound of Bow Bells, or at any rate of the
back ten as the)& existed before 1933, became
extremely well known through the recording
made by a band of the College Youths, which
was for so long used as the " interval signal ”
on the Home Service of the B.B.C.

A church has certainly been in existence on
this site since early Norman times. The
great historian of London, Stow, who wrote in
the reign of Queen Elizabeth 1, records that
“in the year 1100 . . . the roof was blown
off in a mighty tempest, in which several
people were killed.” Part of the original crypt
of the 11th century, built of Roman bricks,
still survives to form one of the oldest
parochial buildings in London. The name of
the church is probably derived from the arches
of this crypt, which "also gave their name to
the Ecclesiastical Court of Arches, which was
first held in Bow Church in 1172.

THREE TOWERS

Ever since the Middle Ages, St. Mary-le-
Bow has been one of the largest and finest of
City churches The present tower is the third
belonging to the church. The first, the Nor-
man tower, collapsed in 1271. As Stow says:
“ A great part of the steeple fell down and
slew many people, men and women.” It was
replaced by what appears trom old illustrations
to have been a very fine tower, which was not
completed until 1512. This tower had at the
corners four stone lanterns, with a fifth held
aloft between them on flying buttresses built of
Caen stone. These lanterns were intended to
be glazed and lighted at night for the con-
venience of travellers.

The earliest record of a bell at Bow is
in a regulation of 1362, in which Bow Church
was appointed as one of the City churches
where the Curfew should be runcf;. There is
some evidence that the bell used for this pur-
pose was cast in 1334, The Curfew was
originally rung at 8 o’clock, but in 1496 the
time was changed to 9 o’clock. In addition
to the evening Curfew there was a morning
bell rung at 5.45 a.m. each day in accordance
with the will of John Downe or Donne, who
died in 1472. He also left two tenements in
Hosier Lane (now Bow Lane) “ for the main-
tenance of the great bell.”

A KNELL FOR DONOR

At the time of Edward VI Bow Church
possessed “ ffyve greate belles and twp Sanctu>
Bells.” One of these bells, the great beil.
was given by William Copland, a tailor and
king’s merchant, who was churchwarden in
1515, with the direction that it should be
used as the Curfew. This bell was first rung
as a knell for the death of its donor. These
bells were added to from time to time until
by 1652 or 1653, we find one Peter Mundy,
in an essay of “ Change Ringiqg,” referring
to *the 12 bells of Bow whereof 10 bee rung
and 2 tolled.”

These bells were destroyed in the Great
Fire of 1666. The tower was not badly
damaged, and over £500 was spent on an
attempt to restore it. But when rebuilding
was seen to be inevitable, it was decided to
emphasise the importance of the church by
building the é)resent magnificent steeple to
the design of Sir Christopher Wren and bring-
ing it forward to Cheapside (the old tower
apparently stood back from the street) with a

vestibule between it and the church. Wren
intended the new tower, which cost nearly
£7,400, to carry twelve bells, but only eight
were ;;Iaced there at first. These were ordered
in 1677 from John and Christopher Hodson
Christopher Hodson was the son of John, the
famous London bellfounder, and in 1677 he
set up in business at St. Mary Cray, Kent.
In 1680 he cast Great Tom of Oxford. Part
of the inscription on the present tenor of
Bow bells reads: “ Recast 1669," repeating the
inscription on the 1933 tenor, but this is
evidently incorrect. The tenor of the 1677
ring weighed “upwards of 52 Hundred
Weight.”

FIRST PEAL 1731

The first peal on these bells was one of
Bob Triples, rung by the College Youths on
Tuesday, January 12th, 1731. Eleven men
were needed, three on the tenor and two on the
seventh; it was called from the seventh bell
by John Cundell. On Monday, Februarg
11th, 1734, the College Youths rang 5,040 Bo
Major in four hours and three minutes, again
with eleven men. This peal was called by
Benjamin Annable from the sixth, and was
the heaviest peal of Major that had been rung.
Indeed, if the tenor weight of 52 cwt. is cor-
rect, it was unbeaten until the peal in 1911
mentioned below.

In 1738 the tenor was recast by Richard
Phelps and Thomas Lester. This fine bell,
which lasted until 1933, when it was found
to be cracked, weighed 53i cwt. The other
seven bells were recast in 1762 by Lester and
Pack, and two trebles were added to make a
ring of ten. The newbells were rung for
the first time on June 4th, 1762, the 25th
birthda?/ of George 111. The first peal on the
ten bells was 5,363Grandsire Caters rung by
the College Youths on April 14th, 1765, in
3 hours and 51 minutes, and called from the
treble by William Underwood. For this peal
three men were needed on the tenor and two
on the ninth.

Other noteworthy peals rung in the 18th
century are the first of Royal on the bells—
5,040 Oxford Treble Bob, rung on December
23rd, 1782, in 4 hours and 15 minutes, with
Samuel Muggeridge and William Lyford on
the tenor, conducted by John Povey from the
fourth; and the first on the bells rung by ten
men only—5.111 Grandsire Caters on Feb-
ruary 19th, 1787, in 3 hours and 52 minutes.
Povey was again the conductor, on the fourth,
and Phillip Pilgrim rang the tenor. Both these
peals were rung by College Youths.

TWELVE BELLS SINCE 1881

In September, 1819, the steeple was repaired
and strengthened with iron ties. In October.
1881, two trebles were added to make a
ring of twelve and the first peal on the
twelve bells, 5,004 Stedman Cinques, was rung
by the College Youths on Easter Monday,
April 7th, 1890, in 4 hours and 5 minutes,
conducted by James Pettit. The bells were
rehung by Messrs. Gillett and Johnston in
1901. The first peal of Maximus in the tower
was 5,088 Kent Treble Bob, rung on Saturday,

January 9th. 1907, in four hours and one
minute, in which W. T. Cockerill rang the
tenor and conducted. This peal was com-

memorated by a dinner, and a marble tablet
was erected in the belfry. On Saturday,
January 14th, 1911, 5,088" London Surprise
Major was rung on the back eight bells in
four hours; R. Newton called the peal
from the tenor. The longest peal on the bells
was 7,392 Cambridge Surprise Maximus, rung
on December 12th, 1925, by a band of the
Middlesex County Association, with William
Pye on the tenor.

In 1933 all the bells except the fourth, fifth,
ninth and eleventh were recast by Gillett and
Johnston Ltd., and the bells were hung in a
new frame, the cost of this restoration being

defrayed b% Mr. Gordon Selfridge. The new
tenor weighed 54 cwt. On May 11th, 1941,
these bells were destroyed as a result of
enemy action, and the church and tower were
severely damaged. Some of the original
bell metal was, however, salvaged, and the
present bells were cast by Messrs. Mears and
Stainbank in 1956. The recasting and cere-
mony of naming the present tenor (* Bow ")
and second (“ Fabian ) were carried out in
the presence of the then Lord Mayor of Lon-
don, Sir Cuthbert Ackroyd, and the Master of
the Ancient Society of College Youths, John
S. Mason.

PRINCE PHILIP AT OPENING

Unfortunately, it was discovered shortly
afterwards that the steeple was unsafe as a
result of war damage, and it had to be partly
taken down and rebuilt. It was several years
before the funds necessary for this operation
could be raised and the work completed, so
that it was not until December 20th, 1961, that
the new bells, having at last been hung in
the tower, were dedicated by the Bishop of
London in the presence of Prince Philip, Duke
of Edinburgh. The tenor of the present
ring weighs 41 cwt. 3 qr. 21 Ib. The bells are
named (from treble to tenor): Katherine,
Fabian, Christopher, Margaret, Mildred, Faith,
Augustine, John, Timothy, Pancras, Cuthbert
and Bow, and each bell has inscribed on it a
text from the Psalms, the initial letters of
which form an acrostic spelling “ D. Whit-
tington.” The first peal on the present bells,
5,007 Stedman Cinques, was rung on Novem-
ber 9th, 1963.

Cover picture by Christopher Dalton.

AMBRIDGE RINGERS’ BAD
EXAMPLE
Strong Protest to “Radio Times”

Mr. hdgar C. Shepherd, convener of the
Literature and Press Committee of the Cen-
tral Council, has written to the Editor of the
“ Radio Times” protesting about the picture
of Ambridgc bellringers in “ The Borchester
Echo.” His letter reads :—

Dear Sir.—1 write to draw attention to
the absurd and misleading depiction of the
Ambridge bellringers in the issue of “ The
Borchester Echo ™ of October 13th. No
ringers of ability would adopt such postures
or handle bell ropes in the manner shown;
and to conceive that Bob Major can be
rung on four bells is as ridiculous as to
imagine that Schubert’s celebrated Octet
can be played by a string quartette.

The ringing of bells forms an important
part of our church work and is therefore
entitled to be treated, if not always too
solemnly, at least with accuracy. The Cen-
tral Council of Church Bell Ringers has a
committee of experts ready and willing to
advise the B.B.C. (or anyone else) on all
aspects of the art of ringing.

Another protest comes from Mr. E. J.
Holloway, of Crewe:—
Dear Sir —| would suggest that some com-

etent ringing instructors be sent to “ Am-
ridge ” to instiuct their local ringers how
to handle bell ropes properly and safely.

We ringers know, of course, that “ Am-
bridge ” and the somewhat queer characters
found therein are really non-existent but the
general public might think all ringers are
slovenly and careless.

BACK NUMBERS

We carry a substantial quantity of
back numbers from 1950. Price 9d.
per copy plus postage, for recent years
(1960-67). Other Is. 6d. plus postage.
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Truro Guild Celebrates 70th Anniversary of Foundation

'T'HE Truro Diocesan Guild was founded at

a meeting held in the crypt of the
Cathedral on October 8th, 1897, and was pre-
sided over by the then Bishop, the Rt. Rev.
John Gott. "In order to celebrate the 70th
anniversary a dinner was held at the Brook-
dale Hotel, Truro, on October 14th, when a
company of 70, representing the Diocese from
east to west, was gresided over by the pre-
sident, Mr. Alan Carveth, who, on calling
the assembly to silence by ringing the Guild
bell, invited the Rev. A. S. Roberts ivice-
chairman) to say Grace. The gathering was
honoured by the presence of the Lord Bishop

(the Rt. Rev. J M. Key) and Mrs. Key.
Mr. H. Lander (a vice-president), in pro-
posing “ The Church,” referred to the smallest

church in the Diocese, at Cornelly, and the
Cathedral Church, but these, he said, were
only the buildings, the life of the Church
depended upon the people, and despite what
had happened so often in the past, today the
ringers were also the Church Council, the
choir, the servers, indeed holding every office.
A LIVE CHURCH

In his reply, the Bishop congratulated the
Guild on the fact that it had now reached
three score years and ten, but he had been
talking to several that evenin]qI who had passed

that age and who were still ringing. Long
might they continue. The Bishop referred to
the fact that the Church in Cornwall was

very much alive despite the suggestions from
time to time that it was dying.

Mr. E. H. Langley was entrusted with the
toast “ The Truro Diocesan Guild,” and said
he could speak, as it were, as one who could
see the activities of the Guild from the touch-
line, having come to live in Cornwall three
years ago. He had learned his ringing in the
Oxford Diocese, where the Diocesan Guild
had been founded only )6 years before the
Truro Guild.

Mr. Langley referred to the two types of
ringing that could be found in Cornwall and
how, on his first visit to the county ten years
ago he stayed with his daughter at Tintagel,
and on the Sunday morning at the Parish
Church he joined in the local ringing, where
they rang the bells up and down and up and
down with a few rounds in between. In the
evening he had the pleasure of ringing in a fine
quarter peal of Grandsire Triples at Stratton.
Since that time he had rung on 95 of the 147
rings in Cornwall in so many churches of
great historical interest.

Mr. Langley said he did not know enough
about the Call Change Ringing Association
to pass comment, but he asked, “ Are all the
bells being rung regularly and are there plenty
of learner.!, coming on?”

POINTS OF PROGRESS

In looking at the reports he could see that
ﬁrogress had been made over the years and
e congratulated the officers on this. In 1936
there were 66 affiliated towers and in 1967
there were 87. Some had fallen by the way-
side but others had taken their places.

In 1936 there were seven peals rung, mainly
by the same People, and all Grandsire, and
no mention of quarter peals. In 1966 there
were 12 peals in various methods, including
one in five methods and 46 quarter peals in
a variety of methods. There were 12 towers
regularly ringing methods, which was an
improvement he had seen during his time of
living in Cornwall.

The Rev. J. R. Jose, Vicar of Perranar-
worthal and Stithians, replied and referred to
the fact of the great drain upon their ringers
in Cornwall and especially in the rural parishes

CHURCH
CLOCKS

= NEW ELECTRIC OR HAND-WOUND

I INSTALLATIONS—ALL TYPES OF REPAIRS

where, as soon as the best brains reached the
age of 18, they left for university or college,
and others left to find work in the towns. He
had twp fine rings of six bells and knew the
difficulties of maintaining local bands, but he
always welcomed visiting bands at any time.
He did, however, stress the fact that every
ringer should be attached to a local tower
if this was at all possible.

During the evening a course of Grandsire
Triples was well rung by Mary Carveth 1-2,
V. Mary Matthews 3-4,” A. J. Davidson 5-6,
and A. F. Burley 7-8. This brought applause.

A pleasing fact that the East Cornwall
Ringing Association is interested in and willing
to co-operate with its bigger sister, the Dio-
cesan Guild, was seen by the presence as guests
of Mr. E. C. Facey (the chairman) and Mr. J.
Summerfield (the treasurer). They were ac-
corded a special welcome by the president.
Grateful thanks were accorded to Mr. A. J.
Davidson (secretaryt), who had undertaken all
the arrangements for the dinner and which
had been done with all his usual precision.

HE COMPANY
At the top table, the Lord Bishop of Truro

(the Rt. Rev. J. M. Key, D.D.) and Mrs.
Key, Mr. A. Carveth (president) and Mrs.
Carveth the Rev and rs. A. S. Roberts,

Mr. A. J. Davidson (hon. secretary).

Cycling Vicar Comp
SPONSORED TOUR FOR BELL FUND
ONGRATULATIONS to the Rev. the Hon.
M. R. Morrison, Vicar of Randwick, Stroud,

Glos, on completing his 1,000-mile sponsored

cycle ride from Land’s End to John o’ Groats

to enable the bells of his parish church to
be augmented from four to six.

Notifying “ The Ringing World ” of his fine
achievement, accomplished not without hard-
ships, the Vicar states that the fund is now
nearing £500 given or promised; only about
another £100 is needed for a first-class job.
Those desirous of being associated with this
achievement should send donations to Mr.
A. J. B. Haines, Hon. Treasurer, The Rand-
évick Bell Fund, Ashleigh, Randwick, Stroud,

0s.

The diary of the ride, which was accom-
plished with 18 hours to spare, is as follows:
October 2.—Left Truro Cathedral at 3.15

E/i.n. after service of Blessing by the Priest-

icar, the Rev. L. M. Coulson. Stops at

Helston, Land’s End Hotel. Left Land’s

End about 845 pjn., arrived Penzance

Youth Hostel 9.50 p.m.

October 3rd.—Left Penzance Youth Hostel
9.15 a.m. Stops at Bodmin (lunch), Laun-
ceston, and outskirts of Exeter. Arrived
Exeter Youth Hostel 8 p.m.

October 4th.—Left Exeter Youth Hostel 9.35
a.m. Stops at outskirts of Taunton (lunch).
East Lyng, Wells (to see Cathedral clock
strikin%4 p.m.). Mr. Morrison delayed &
Wells by cone trouble. A representative of
the Stroud C.T.C. met Mr. Pegler between
Bath and Nailsworth and travelled home
with him. Arrived home at Randwick 9.30

p.m.
October 5th.—Left Randwick 7.20 a.m. (the
earliest start managed on the tour). Stop at
Warwick 11.30 a.m. for lunch at the home
of Mr. and Mrs. G. S. Gardiner, of 41,
Green Lane. Dep. 12.45. Arrived at
Loughborough Bel' Foundry about 4.10 p.m.
Here Mr. Paul Taylor, managing director of
John Taylor and Co., the bellfounders for
the Randwick improvements, kindly enter-

EXISTING HAND-WOUND
CLOCKS CONVERTED TO
ELECTRIC DRIVE

Inspections & Estimates Free

The Rev. R. O. and Mrs. Mossop, the Revs.
A. J. Vincent and J. Jose.

Mr. W. C. Boucher (Master) and Mrs.
Boucher, Mr. and Mrs. P. L. N. Carveth,
Mr. and Mrs. H. J. Cowling, Mr. and Mrs.
C. N. Hollow, Mr. and Mrs. H. Hutchinson,
Mr. and Mrs. H. Lander, Mr. and Mrs. S.
Lander Mr. and Mrs. E. H. Langley, Mr. and
Mrs. C. W. Linington, Mr. and Mrs. G. W.
Riddy, Mr. and rs. K. Tattersall, Mr. and
Mrs. E. J. Wellington, Mr. and Mrs. A.
Wheaton, Mr. and Mrs. H. R. Wooldridge.

Mesdames Bennett, K. Downing and J.
Twining.
The Misses V. Allen, B. Duck (Truro

Branch secretary), H. Dash, P. Holman M.
L. Lidgey (pear secretary), V. M. Matthews,
R. Meyrick, A. Penrose and
M. A. B. Weston.

Messrs. G. Barradell, T. J. Bell, N. Blake,
F. M. Bowers, A. F. Burley, A. J. Chubb, E.
Facey (East Cornwall Ringing Association
chairman), A. Locke (Assistant Ringing Master),
A. E. Matthews, H. Miles, W. Moss, R. P.
Pearce, J. Summerfield (treasurer East Corn-
wall Ringing Association), O. P. Walker, N.
G. Waters, J. C. Wearne and P. C. Wearne.

Apologies were received from Miss Eileen
Symons, Lt.-Col. C. F. Jerram and Mr. S. J.
Robinson (treasurer).

letes 1,000 Mile Ride

tained Mr. Morrison for the evening, as
well as Igresenting a donation for four
guineas. ep. Loughborough 9.30 p.m., arr.
Nottingham Commercial Hotel 10.30 p.m.

October 6th.—Dep. Nottingham 8.25 a.m. Stop
at York to see Minster. Stop at Scorton:
delay by taking wrong road in the dark for
Scotch Corner. Arrived at Barnard Castle
10.05 pjn. after being guided in by Mr.
Michael  Wheeler to his home at 38, Bede
Road, where he and Mrs. Wheeler kindly
offered hospitality.

October 7th.—Left Barnard Castle 8.25 ajn.
Arrived Corbridge, after severe hills and
more cone trouble, at 12.45 p.m. Arr. Jed-
burgh (stop) 6.10 p.m. Arr. Edinburgh 11.05
p.m. to stay two nights with aunt, Mrs. E.
Cowley, of 35, Telford Road.

October 8th (Sunday).—No progress made with
the journey, as planned. Preaching appoint-
ment at old school, Fettes College, in
morning. = Spent rest of day seeing friends
and relations.

October 9th.—Dep. Edinburgh 7.55 a.m. St.
Andrew’s 11.55 a.m. Stop at Dundee (punc-
ture in the rain, and lunch). Stop Braemar
(telephone). Arr. near Crathie 8.20 pjn. to
spend night (not booked) with Mr. and
Mrs. Walsh, Pine Cottage, near Crathie.

October 10th.—Dep. Crathie 9 a.m. Severe
hills and head-winds. Stop at Tomintoul
for lunch. Stop at Grantown-on-Spey to
repair broken spokes in front wheel at
garage. Dep. Grantown 4.30 p.m. approx.
Stop for tea. Arr. Inverness 6.55 p.m. Arr.
Evanton c. 9.30 I_F.m. to spend night at the
Munros’ Guest House (not booked).

October 11th.—Dep. Evanton 8.10 a.m. Stop
at Helmsdale. Stop at Berriedale to see the
Duke and Duchess of Portland. Stop for
lunch-tea.  Stop at John o’ Groats Post
Office and Hotel (arr. 7.20 p.m.) after visiting
Duncansby Head Lighthouse. Dep. John o’
Groats 7.50, arr. Thurso, St. Peter’s Church,

Pearce, M. J.

9.20 p.m. (c. 18 hours to spare) Stayed
night with Mr. and Mrs. Corsie, of 50,
Pennyland Drive.

JOHN SMITH & SONS - DERBY 1
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CHESTER DIOCESAN HAVE 150

AT ANNUAL DINNER

THE annual dinner and dance of the Chester

Diocesan Guild was held at Bowdon As-
sembly Rooms on October 14th. Over 150
people were present at thedgathering, includin
visitors from as far afield as Cornwall an

Cardiff. An excellent turkey dinner was en-
joyed by all in surroundings befitting the
occasion.

The speech by Mr. John Freeman (vice-pre-
sident of the Council), in proposing the
health and continued prosperity of the Guild,
was preceded by a touch of Spaced Surprise
Major on handbells. Mr. Freeman commented
on the long association between the Chester
and Lincoln Diocesan Guilds, particularly in
the peals of Spliced Treble Bob Minor rung in
the 1930%s. He referred to the fact that he
had rung his first peal of London Royal with
the Cheshire band.

In his capacity as vice-president of the Cen-
tral Council he referred to recent criticisms
there had been of the Central Council meet-
infg_s ointing out that it was the responsibility
of individual Guilds to send their best represen-
tatives ; they were not delegates. Expressing a
personal opinion, he said that he was not sure
that the method of selection employed by the
Chester Guild was the most desirable one.

lit is hoped to change the method of selection
at the next annual festival, notice having al-
ready been given at this year’s meeting.]

HIGHEST MEMBERSHIP

In his reply to the toast of “ The Guild,"
the Master, Mr. A. R. Elkins, said that 1966
had been a record year in many respects:
membershiﬁ tooc! at about 800, the highest
figure in the history of the Guild; peak, too,
had reached an all-time record of 183. Early
in 1967, however, they had lost the Master of
the Guild Mr. John Worth, who was mainlv
responsible for the Erosperity the Guild was
now enjoying. Mr. Elkins then took up some
of the points on which he thought the Cen-
tral Council gathering could be improved.
Briefly they are as follows:

(1) Reports of various committees should
appear in “ The Ringing World ” before the
meeting so that members would be better in-
formed than at present, and reports could be
taken as read, or amendments added if
required.

(2) Instead of tower-grabbing coach trips,
members might be better employed giving in-
struction to learners at certain towers in the
area being visited by the Council.

The “ formal ” proceedings were rounded off
with three leads of Kent Treble Bob Maximus
on handbells.

Dancing commenced at 8.15 p.m. and con-
tinued until 11.45 p.m., the tastes of all being
catered for. It was noticeable that pints
of mild and bitter had changed to pints of
shandy, it being the first Saturday of the
“ breathaliser.” R.B.S.
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Next Sunday at 6 p.m. “ Barnaby’s Bell ”
Our picture shows the original sign of the Haycock Hotel

Church, Northants.
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will be dedicated at Wansford Parish

with Bamaby, who went to sleep on a haycock, being awakened by the sound of
the bell of St. Mary’s Church and from the middle of the River Nen crying out:

“Where am 1?7

With Bamaby’s Bell as tenor Wansford will have a ring of six.

[Picture by courtesy of “ The Peterborough Citizen Advertiser.”

HIGH STANDARD AT
BATH STRIKING CONTEST

The second striking competition of the Bath
Branch of the Bath and Wells Association
was held at Priston. The six bells are easy
to ring, and are very pleasant to listen to
inside and out of the tower, in fact ideal for
such a venture.

Eight teams entered and Corston again
excelled themselves; they entered three teams
and the result of the competition was: 1st
Corston A (ringing Cambridge); 2nd Corston
B (Double Court); 3rd Corston C (Grandsire
Doubles).

The result was a very close thing between
I1st and 2nd, as the “A” team had 18 faults
and "B” team 20 faults. So the rest of the
towers in the Branch will have to work very
hard to try to compete with Corston.

We thank Mr. Ronald Beck and his son,
Robert, for judging the ringing, and the
Corston ladies for inviting the ringing bands
back for an excellent tea in the Village Hall.

Ringing then continued on the octave at
Twerton in methods up to London. EL

BRIDGWATER BRANCH VISIT BATH

The Bridgwater Branch held its annual outing
on September 23rd. Forty-one members and
friends set off from Bridgwater under cloudy
skies but by the time we reached our first
tower, at Dinder, the weather was set fair for
the rest of the day. The belfry here is small
but those who were not ringing enjoyed the
lovely netting of the church, with manor house
and park adjoining.

Radstock was our next stop, and we en-
joyed the nice six very much. At 1230 we
were let loose in Bath for lunch and shopping.
Some members, spuming such a frivolous
waste of time, made a desperate and unsuc-
cessful attempt to “ grab” the Abbey.

The afternoon was spent at the American
Museum at Claverton, where there was much
of interest, including hot gingerbread straight

from the oven. Fortified by this and after-
noon tea, we proceeded to Norton St. Philip
for a short ring, then on to Bruton, the high-
light of the day.

In a county well endowed with fine churches,
Bruton Church is outstandingly beautiful, par-
ticularly the chancel, which has been newly
decorated and is superb. The heavy six is
such a magnificent ring that it would be a
proud boast indeed to say that we did justice
to it. But with Michael Stone on the 26 cwt.
tenor at least there was nothing much wrong
with the “ rise.”

After suitable refreshment we arrived back
at Bridgwater at 10 p.m. having had a_ very
happy day Our thanks are due to Michael
and Valerie Stone for their organisation and
to the incumbents and tower captai]n?_. A

OBITUARY

HARRY PARKER

AN APPRECIATION

Mr. W. Frank Stenson writes the following
tribute of Mr. Harry Parker, of Northwich,
Cheshire.

“l am sure everyone who knew Harry—
and they were many—will be sorry to learn
of his passing on after a long and trying time.

“Harry was much loved by all who knew
him: he was so unassuming, yet very efficient,
whether in the peal band or "up in the tower
‘amongst the bells.” | am sure | speak for the
Chester Guild and the Railwaymen’s Guild.

“God giive him rest and peace, and his wife
and family comfort and courage.”

MRS. D. SOUTHWOOD

The ringers of Horsham, Sussex, were
shocked to hear of the death of one of their
members. Mrs. Dorothy Southwood. who was
killed in_a car crash during her holidays.

Mrs. Southwood was introduced to ‘ringing
by her three children, Judy, Andrew and Jane,
who are all ringers at Horsham Parish Church.
She was making good progress and was ring-
ing the treble to Grandsire Triples.

The bells were rung half-muffled at the
funeral service at the Parish Church. The
sympathy of the ringers goes to her husband
and their three children. T.G.

“RATHER CHEAP”

Dear Sir—What a pity Brian Woodruffe had
to add such an unfortunate footnote- to his
handbell peal of Maximus (page 742). He
musi have lived in Wales long enough to
know that this is a subject that many Welsh-
men are extraordinarily sensitive about. They
see the English claim on Monmouthshire 3s
entirely unjust and this is hardly suiprising
since the present Archbishop of Wales Is also
Bishop of Monmouth, since no Newport
Rugby player will represent England, and
since almost all Monmouthshire place names
are either Welsh or Welsh in origin.

No doubt he added the footnote as some-
thing of a joke, but to me at least this is not
at aU funny but rather cheap.—Yours sincerely,

NICHOLAS W. H. SIMON.
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Letters to

AMERICA’'S WARM WELCOME

Dear Sir,—A few weeks ago my wife and |
made a trip to the U.S.A. Before going.
1 wrote to Mr. Jack Fanfani, asking him if |
might ring at Washington Cathedral, ar.d
pointing out that | was not an experienced
ringer but could manage Doubles and a touch
of Minor, and on the treble onlé/. Imagine
my delight on arrival at my friend’s house to
find an invitation already waiting—no its or
but or supposings attached to it

On Sunday, September 30th. my friend and
his famil> took my wife and me down country
100 miles or so (distance no barrier in

USA.), where Mr. Fanfani and Miss Fanfani
met us on top of the steps of the Cathedral.
Its magnificance must be seen to be appre-
ciated ~We were taken to the rinPinE chamber
by elevator and arrived at what looked like a
magnificent drawing room. We rang from 2
until 3.40 p.m. on lashed clappers with strik-
ing hammers attached and at 3.40 clappers
were freed and we rang for Evenson?. After
snaps, greetings and farewells we all left feeling
ve_rly gratified indeed. . .
he point | wish to make is this: one goes
to another country unsung and is received at
face value and made welcome, whereas here
at home one can meet bare-faced rudeness.
My District chairman, a well known peal
ringer, was flatly ignored in one well known
London tower; another well known peal
ringer was told, in no uncertain manner, “To
prevent any embarrassment please don’t turn
up.” Can you beat it? A friend of mine
has obtained some Cathedral bells here at
home sLiverpooI_, the latest), but the flat re-
fusals far outweigh the “Yes. of course.” A
pity these bands consider their towers and
. themselves above the ordinaries. Were they
born as pealers or did they stoop to learn the
elementaries?—Yours sincerely,

GEORGE E. BEAVIS.
Andover, Hants.

THAT SIXPENCE

Dear Sir,—That sixpence steepleage. | have
had the pleasure of ringing with the London
County Association on numerous occasions.
When 'in Rome | try to do as Rome does and
pay my dues, but never have | been accosted
In"any way. | well remember one meeting
when Miss Dupre was counting the coins on
the table and the look on her face when she
appeared to have too much. “ Have you
sixpence too much? ” | asked. “ Yes,” she
replied. 1 told her how it had come about and
“ Thank you so much,” was the reply.

Either 1 am privileged or your correspon-
dents singularly unlucky. Such a small surn
for a half-day s enjoyment.—Yours faithfully,

RAYMOND BATH.
Camberley, Surrey.

LOWEST FAULTS IN A COMPETITION
Dear Sir—In answer to the inquiry from
Accrington, the lowest number of faults made
by a Sunday service band that | have in my
records is Friezland with 17 faults, with our
own band, Silkstone, with 18 faults in the
same competition.
The competition was held at Penistone
tenor 14 cwt. in F sharp) on July 6th, 1963.
he test was 600 changes.
Tgoth Friezland and Silkstone rang Oxford
1 nope that this will be of interest to our
friends in Accrington.—Yours sincerely,
HARRY MANN.
Silkstone, Barnsley.

AT m

THE RINGING WORLD

the Editor

“COMPLETE NONSENSE”

Dear Sir,—I hope the band who rang a peal
of Plain Bob Maximus “in hand” at Cardiff
on August 31st (“R.W. page 763) will not
think me Pharisaical if 1 ask what the foot-
note means; | quote “First peal on 12 bells
in Wales éexcluding Monmouthshire).” Down-
ton Roa is, in fact, in Monmouthshire,
where both handbell and tower-bell peals on
12 bells have been already rung.

If, as the footnote suggests, Wales excludes
Monmouthshire, then there still hasn't been a
12 bell peal in Wales. Before ringers claim
a multitude of records for a peal, they should
ensure that the records are meaningful; the
footnote in question is complete nonsense, as
it has no actual meaning. However, | would
still like to congratulate the band on their
achievement.—Yours sincerely,

TICKLAND (Rev.).
Port Talbot, Gla%. sTic (Rev)

WHAT ABOUT THE RECRUITING
LEAFLET ?

Dear Sir,—| was interested to read the letter
by G. F. Roome that appeared in " The Ring-
ing World ” on October 13th. He seems to
suggest that there is no publication by the
Central.Council which will give information to
the public about church bells and why they
ring. | wonder if he has ever taken steps to
obtain the recruiting leaflet from the Council.
There he will find a photograph of a bell and
also information on bells and why ringers ring
them. Also there is a form at the base in
which times and dates can be placed together
with the address of the tower captain, and 1
quote: “ .. .The Head Ringer (and here the
name is inserted together with his address)
will be pleased to show you the bells, either at
these times, or at other times by arrangement. ’

This criticism 1 feel is unfounded as there
is a publication for the public which can be
obtained by the ringer for distributon to the
public if necessary.—Yours faithfully,

. M. H. HILLER.
Abingdon, Berks.

CATHEDRAL RINGER’S VIEWS ON THE
OTHER MUSIC

De”r Sir,—May | be allowed to reply to
Mr. J. A. Burton? He seems to forget that
one of the main functions of a Cathedral
Church is the daily singing of the Offices ot
Matins and Evensong, and that it has been
the tradition of these places that the music
should be of the highest standard.

As a ringer at a Cathedral famed for its
choir no less than for its bells, | count it a
Erivilege to be able to attend the regular Sun

vensong where a near perfect offering o
music is made. The size of the congregations
at Saturday and Sunday Evensong shows that
many people are able to take their part
without feeling upset that they are not in-
tended to sing.

No one would attempt to criticise those who
find the Cathedral music difficult to under-
stand but it is a sobering thought that our own
peculiar musical offering in the belfry on a
Sunday is probably even more difficult for
most people to understand, and by its sheer
noise value can be infinitely more annoying.—
Yours sincerely,

PAUL CATTERMOLE.

Diglis, Worcester.
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PETERBOROUGH GUILD ASSOCIATIONS

Dear Sir,—In your issue of September 8th
W. Stote, in his “ Peterborough Guild Mem-
ories,” stales that he was proposed as a non-
resident member of the Guild at Dodford on
November 7th, 1925, and the possibility that
he has held such membership longer than any
other living ringer. He also says he would
be pleased to learn of any other’ living ringer
who was elected to non-resident membership
prior to this date.

I cannot fulfil sll the conditions he asks as
| was elected a resident member in 1923 or
early 1924, ringing a peal at Titchmarsh in
November, 1924, but 1 left the diocese in
April, 1915 and have lived in Hertfordshire
since that dale. Thus | became automatically
a non-resident member 42£ years ago, and |
still ring Sunday by Sunday.

Without being certain, | would say at a
guess that Stephen H. Hoare, of Watford, late
of Woodston, Peterborough, probably holds
non-resideni membership longer than either
Mr. Stote or myself, but it Is an interesting
thought on the part of Mr. Stote, and 1 thank
him for raising it —Yours faithfully,

F. KIRK.

Leverstock Green, Herts.

LONG SERVICE AT EDINBURGH

Dear Sir,—I was extremely interested to
read the report that Miss May S. Taylor has
now completed 50 years' service as a ringer,
and | offer her my congratulations on this
happy event. In 1925 | was working some
time 'in Edinburgh and as soon as possible on
arrival 1 made my way to the tower of St
Cuthbert’s. where” | received a very warm
welcome, and | had the pleasure of joining in
the service ringing and practices for the whole
time | was there.  Mr. W. C. S. Heathcote was
then tower master, and Miss Taylor and Miss
Whitson were lady members of the band |
found Mr. Heathcote a good companion and
friend; this applies to all members of the
band. The ringing chamber was kept spot-
lessly clean, also the bells and frame were
well” attended to, which was chiefly due to
Mr. Heathcote’s care and attention.

Miss Taylor and myself now have something
in common as | started ringing in _the tower
of the Parish Church, Trowbridge, in Septem-
ber, 1907, and have thereforecomplete 60
years as a ringer.

I rang my first peal on May 31st, 1909.
some years

| left Trowbridge
first world war, but whereverl was | con-

tinued service ringing and practices, and re-
turned to Trowbridge just before the last war.

The ravages of time have taken away many
well known ringers and friends with whom
| have rung many peals, and | am now the
sole survivor of the Trowbridge band with
whom | started ringing.

f-ortunately we now have some younger
ringing members of the Trowbridge band
who will undoubtedly make their names well
known in the ringing fraternity in the future.
—Yours sincerely,

) GILBERT H. HARDING.
Trowbridge, Wilts.

WITHDRAWN

Dear Sir,—It has been brought to my notice
that the first extent of the peal of 5.040 Minor

in twelve methods rung on December 11th,
1966, at Copdock, Suffolk, is false.
I must, therefore, withdraw this peal and

tender my apologies to the rest of the band,
and all others concerned.—Yours faithfully,
J. B. PICKUP.
Lowestoft.

BELL ROPES

JOHN NICOLL

SEE..BACK. PAGE

before
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Bishop’s Flock Return to Cornwall for Second Week

BY popular request, Tintagel was chosen

for this year’s base, a very enjoyable time
having been .pent there in 1964.  Nine of
the party arrived at the hotel early on Satur-
day evening, August 5th, but what haﬂpened
to Alan Bagworth’s car? Eventually he did
arrive safely, having broken down twice on
the way. A visit was paid to the Parish
Church that evening to lend a hand with the
local ringers, struggling to get a band together.

On Sunday morning some of the party at-
tended 8 a.m. Holy Communion and obtained
permission for a quarter peal attempt before
our scheduled time of arrival. Cambridge
Minor was attempted but was unsuccessful
after about 800 changes. The rest of the party
then arrived and some ﬂooq ringing was en-
Jo}yed on the pleasant bells, including a course
of Wells. After lunch at the hotel we got
down to the real start of the week with a
full afternoon of ringing. The pleasant six at
St. Kew came first, followed by St. Mabyn,
where an excellent view is to be had from the
top of the tower. Thence to Bodmin (an ex-
cellent octave), where unfortunately the ringing
did not do justice to the bells. However,
several of the band found the courage to
enter and leave the ringing room by the ver-
tical ladder at the side of the tower instead of
the more orthodox stairs. The Napoleon
at Boscastle was visited that evening, and Mr.
Doubleday’s “ ploughman’s lunch ™ with an
excellent portion of Stilton cheese proved to
be a worthwhile investment in *“ Boney’s
Bar.”

CLIMB OF BRENT TOR

The first tower on Monday was at St
Stephen’s-by-Launceston (a very pleasant oc-
tave), where the Stedman and Double Norwich
went remarkably well considering that the
ground-floor ringing room was 100 feet from
the bells ! Milton Abbot and Lamerton (both
sixes) were visited before lunch, which was
taken by some on a large stone in the River
Tavy. ~Afterwards the ringing of Durham
at Peter Tavy exceeded our expectations on
the rough six. An enjoyable climb up Brent
Tor to ring on the five bells at St. Michael’s
followed and the rain kindly stopped for a short
time end enabled us to complete the ascent
without getting wet. St. Petrock’s, Lydford.
was the tea-time tower, but an initial search
of the village did not reveal anywhere where
we could have a cream tea. The unmelodious
six at Lewtrenchard and the pleasant octave
at Lifton were later visited.

We set out on Tuesday without Paul Brand,
who was unwell. York and Primrose were
well rung at St. Breward, but at the beautiful
church at Blisland the ringing was very hard
work and not very rewarding. Unruffled by
our hectic experience on these bells we moved
on to the pleasant light six at St. Neot, where
some of the best ringing of the day took place,
including Norfolk, Berwick and five-spliced
Surprise Minor.

A HEAD WOUND

Bristol Major was enjoyed on the octave
at Liskeard, but the ringing at Lostwithiei was
disappointing, though we did have the pleasure
of a call change touch called by a gentleman
now 83 years old. Alan Bagworth unfor-
tunately banged fcis head on the low beam as
we left the tower. It was still bleeding when
we arrived at Lanlivery. The ringing was cur-
tailed here through a broken rope, not the
first of the week; Tony Bishop had to go and
push the bell over, as it had set up.

THE FLOCK.—Back row, left to right: David Hughes, Poul Brand Lesley Read

and Michael Uphill.

Middle row: Keith Sansom, Alan Bagworth, Caroline Madge

Jill Sims and Tony Bishop. Front row:Jim Cooke, Vanessa Rodri%ues, Deborah
Bishop, Prisca Hornby (obscured). Missing: Bill Shanks, who took the
photograph.

On Wednesday it poured with rain, but we js their 200th year. Local records show

had very good towers all day. York and Sur-
lleet started the day at St. Teath. followed by
five-spliced and Hexham at St. Minver. The
octave at Egloshayle was the last tower before
lunch, after which we rang the two sixes at
St. Wenn and Withiel where we discovered
what we took to be an old timekeeper's clock !
Lanivet closed the day, but we could only
ring th- back six as there was no rope on the
treble. Here we met our only opposition of
the week from some workmen on the nearby
school roof ringing the school bell in reply.
London Minor at Poundstock (an unim-
pressive six?1 opened the day on Thursday.
However, the six at Marhamchurch, i where
Bourne was rung, and the excellent bells at
Kilkampton were enjoyed before lunch was
taken. We had hoped for some good ringing at
Hartland, in the highest tower in Devon and
Cornwall, and the heaviest six of the week
(17] cwt.). However, we seemed a little nei-
vous of these excellent bells and could not
reach the standard that was achieved at
Queen Camel, with a tenor over twice as
heavy, two years ago. We did no better at
Woolfardiswortby, but a good course of
Chester was rung at Parkham and a ladies’
touch of Boo Minor. After tea some good
ringing on the light six at Sutcombe preceded
ringing on the excellent Gillett octave (1949)
at Holsworthy. where the best touch of the
day, six-spliced Surprise Major, was rung.

BRATTON BELLS’ 200th YEAR

All too soon, the the last full day of the
week was upon us and started well with
Bristol and Yorkshire Major at Werrington.
We were shorthanded at™ Broadwoodwidger
as Keith succeeded in getting lost on the way.
However, he found us at Bratton Clovelly
where the six bells were much enjoyed. They
were cast in 1767 by Pennington’s, so this

MU R S

CHAS. H. POTTS & Co. Ltd.

Marshall Mills, Leeds Il

“ One shilling and sixpence paid to Barkwill
for tolling at Nelson’s burial in 1805.”  St.
John’s, Stowford, where a good course of
Coldstream was rung, preceded lunch and a
free afternoon In the evening we started
at Okehampton and rang some Little Grand-
sire Triples and Yorkshire Major. The last
two towers were Bridestowe and Thrushelton
(a disappointing ring).

The final gathering was held in the hotel
that evening and a small quantity of alcoholic
liquor was presented to Tony and Deborah
as a token of appreciation for the hard work
they had put in to make another very suc-
cessful tour.

An hour’s ringing at Stratton marked the
end of the tour on Saturday morning. Here
we were met b¥ Brian Vince, whose daughter
speaks very fluently but not particularly
“ Queen’s ” English. Harry Stacey also looked
in, complete with butcher’s apron.

Finally, our grateful thanks to all incum-
bents and tower captains, to our drivers and
navigators and to the many local ringers who
gave up their time to come and meet us at
many of the towers

D.M.H., K.S.

M.J.U.,
MARLOW RINGERS' WEDDING

On most Saturdays the bells of All Saints’,
Great Marlow, rre rung for weddings, but
Saturday. Octobei 7th, was special—they were
ringing for the wedding of two members of
the local bard, John Young and Bridget
Hillsdon. The marriage service was con-
ducted by the Vicar Dr. S. R. Day, and the
organist was David Boarder.

A quarter peal of Stedman Triples was rung
for Evensong on the following Sunday by the
local band, conducted by John’s father, the
tower captain. It was the eve of Joe and
Kathleen Young’s 30th wedding anniversary.

for NEW TOWNER CLOCKS
OVERHAULS and AUTOMATIC
WINDING

Phone Leeds 24081

NHOUITUHTTOU G anmms
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Kent’s 1967 Dinner a Memorable Occasion
MR. JOHN WILLIS WANTS A PENNY A WEEK FOR NEW BELLS

g-'HE Kent banqueting suite of the Odeon
Cinema, Ashford, proved a very good
choice for this years dinner of the Asso-
ciation on September 30th and a compan
of over 100 sat down to an excellent meal.
A pleasing touch was the presentation of
bouquets to ladies on the top table and this
set the ball rolling for a memorable and
happy evening.
The chairman. Canon N. M. G. Sharpe,
Vicar of Ashford and a vice-president of the
Association, as is customary, proposed the

loyal toast.
VICAR’S PRANK

The usual procedure of the toast of “The
Church” bein% proposed by a layman and
responded to by a priest was reversed. Pro-
posing the toast. Canon J. Frank, Rector of
Aldington, recalled, with amusement when, as
a junior curate at St. Martin-in-the-Fields, he
was {)/qssing through the ringing chamber with
the Vicar (his father-in-law). = As the clock
struck three the Vicar could not resist pulling
the rope and causing the clock to strike four
to the confusion of the crowds in Trafalgar
Square.

The Canon said it was not until he came
to Aldington five years ago that he finall
became _initiated into the art of ringing. All
his reminiscences of ringing were happy ones.
When he heard radio communications bein
received “loud and dear" he was reminde
of the bells, whose message always came
across loud and clear. There was nothing
woolly about their message—the notes were
always sharp and clear. Canon Frank wished
everyone continued joy and blessing in con-
tinuing to proclaim ~ the message of the
Church.

The response was by Mr. E. A. Barnett, a
vice-president of the Association, who said, as a
layman, he was uncertain as to how he should
respond, but he recalled that once he was
listed at a Cumberland dinner as the Rev.

E. A. Barnett. This had evidently fooled the
general secretary as he had been sent the
"helpful notes for non-ringing speakers” prior

to this dinner.

Before the next speech a
Grandsire Caters was rung on
Cross, E. Beer,
end W. Dobbie.

KENT’S PROUD RECORD

The toast of “The Kent County Associa-
tion” was Proposed by Mr. J. G.” A. Prior,
secretary of tne Ancient Society of College
Youths,” who brought cordial greetings from
his Society. He believed the Kent Associa-
tion was one to be proud of, with a notable
record in the realms of peal ringing and with
its membership and finances both strong. It
had also given, through residential members,
great service to the Central Council, the
Ancient Society and the Cumberlands. He
went on to mention just a few names. The
late. E. H. Lewis stood out for his brilliant
chairmanship of the Central Council and
his Mastership at the 300th anniversary of
the College Youths. Mr. Prior also mentioned
the services rendered by E. A. Youn%./l_E. A.
Barnett, G. Cross. D. Beresford, F. itchell,
F. Cullen, H. Audsley, P. Bond, F. Mathews
and others.

Mr. Prior recalled that he had been a non-
resident life member since 1935, when he
came to Crayford for a peal for the Middlesex
Association. . Tom Groombridge asked for

ood course of
andbells by T.
E. A. Barnett, C. Osenton

it to be rung for the Kent Association. As
only four Kent members were present two
handbell peals were attempted each with two

Middlesex men in them. Strangely, each was
lost in the first lead! Eventually when all
eight were Kent members they rang the
youngest peal of spliced ever rung at that
time.

The response was to have been given by
Mr. J. Willis, a vice-president, but unfortun-
ately he had been taken ill. His speech was
read by the Rev.P. T. Robbins, who began
by voicing the opinions of all when he said

how very much regret was caused by the
absence of Mr. Willis, and hoped that he
would very soon be restored to health.

After mentioning the family connections
that have been evident in Kent ringing in

the past and present, Mr. Willis believed
that ‘the Association had now risen to its
highest peak of efficiency and sociability.

This was due largely to the hard work put
in by the officers.

Mr. Willis went on to say that we must
not let our fine art die out because of
criticism by the public and press, and lack
of support” from some of the clergy. As we
bellringers derived more pleasure than any-
one else from the ringing of bells it was our
duty to help provide bells where needed. He
made the suggestion that every Association,
through its tower captains, should collect
one penny per week from each of its mem-
bers; this amount to be used solely for re-
casting. rehanginlg and the provision of new
bells. = This would help far more than in the
past.

“The Visitors” were welcomed by Mr. N.
J. Davies, Ringing Master of the Ashford
District.  He mentioned the three clerical
uests—Canons Sharpe and Frank and the
ev. P. T. Robbins—and thought it would be
hard to find more co-operative incumbents.

The Cumberlands and the Ancient Society,
he said, had both been very active in Kent
ringing, even before the K.CA. was formed.
In ~1770 at the opening of Sevenoaks bells
the main attraction was the College Youths'
peal at'empt.  Several other bands were
resent, including a band from Leeds, Kent.
he latter scored their peal of Oxford Treble
Bob and a footnote in James Barham's peal
book said; “N.B. The Colleéye Youths was
down and they rang over 5,000 changes, but
they turned six bells out of course,
is not allowed!"

The Cumberlands have also been closely
connected with Kent ringing, many being
resident members. He extended congratula-
tions to them for their performances in non-

which

conducted peals. Mr Davies also welcomed
Mr. Bert Luck, now recovered from his
serious illness, and Mr. W. Hughes from the
Whitechapel Foundry.

The reply was given by Mr. Dennis Beres-
ford, Master of the Society of Royal Cum-
berland Youths, who mentioned that although
the Kent cricket team had been pip‘ped into
second place by Yorkshire, in the peal records
the positions ‘last year were reversed. He
also  thanked the Association on behalf of
the ladies for the flowers.

Canon Sharpe was thanked for chairing the
dinner by Mr. P. A. Corb?/, general secretary.
He also thanked Mr. Alan Berry. Ashford
District secretary, for all the work he had
done in organising the event and making it
such a success. he formalproceedings = of
the evening ended with the national anthem,
played by Miss Ann Barber. The company
then separated into various groups in the
adéomlng lounge and dining rooms to renew
old_acquaintances and make new friends. The
entire proceedings were a credit to the
organiser, and this dinner will surely be re-
membered as one of the most enjoyable held
ui the county.

KENT COUNTY ASSOCIATION

The A.G.M. of the Ashford District was
held at Ashford on Saturday, October 21st.
The service was conducted by the Rev. Mr.
Green (assistant curate at St. Mary's, Ashford).

The ousinsss meeting, following the tea,
was conducted with Mr. A. S. Phelips in the
chair.  Officers for the ensuing year were
elected as follows: Chairman, Mr. . S
Phelips; honorary secretary, Alan P. S. Berry;
Ringing Master, P. Charles Sinden; District
representatives, Rev. P. T. Robbins and David
Manger. The offertory was donated to the
Association Belfry Repair Fund, and a raffle
in aid of Newchurch Bell Fund realised £5.

Thanks were expressed by Dr. L. Garraway
o all who had helped at the meeting, especi-
ally the ladies who had prepared the tea.

Ringing continued on the splendid eight
until nine o’clock and ranged from rounds to
Surprise to suit all tastes. A

200th BIRTHDAY OF CORNISH BELLS

THE inscription on the fourth bell at

Gwinear, near Hayle. Cornwall, is “ Pen-
ningtons cast us all, 1767.” The reference was
to the complete ring of six. In 1903 the fifth
was recast by John Warner and Sons Ltd., of
London, and for some years before 1956 this
ring had fallen into complete disrepair and
was unringable. In that year Messrs. John
Taylor and Co. carried out a complete restora-
tion and recast the tenor, which weighs 12 cwt.
1 qr. 17 Ib. Nearly two years ago there was
an unfortunate accident ~with the chiming
hammers, which resulted in the third bell
being badly cracked and the fifth being jammed
halfway down in its pit. The Vicar and
Church Council made immediate praiseworthy
efforts to get matters put right and the
cracked bell has been recast.

The rededication took place on Thursday,
October 5th, which was also observed as the
Harvest Thanksgiving. The Vicar, the Rev.
J. A. Croft, asked the Rev. A. S. Roberts,
Vicar of Carbis Bay, to rededicate the bell,
and after prayers the latter handed the rope
to the Vicar, thus giving this bell again into
his care.

The Rev. A. S. Roberts, in his sermon, took
as his text “A bell and a pomegranate,”
which, he said, he had often heard used at
ringers' festivals, but it was most appropriate
on that dual occasion when they were re-
dedicating a bell and giving thanks for the
harvest.

The preacher remarked that of all Church
workers ringers were amongst the most
travelled, and Cornwall received many visitors
during the summer, and as they travelled they
followed up their art here and there. Ringing

called for teamwork and through it lifelong
friendships were made.

Once again in Gwinear the full ring of bells
was ready to ring to remind the parishioners
that the Church in that place is alive. It was
significant that this year was the 200th birthday
of Penningtons’ three remaining bells in
that tower and this was a reminder that
through all that time and before, people had
been rejoicing and giving thanks In that
church. ~ They had been coming to church,
being baptised, receiving Holy Communion
and, as the old churchyard reminded them,
laid to rest also.

Despite the forward march of science the
round of life was much the same now as 200
years ago and they had to quite literally come
down to earth. Man had to go out into the
field and garden to find God's ijifts which
were so necessary, and he had to dig into the
earth to find the copper and tin with which
the bells were cast. How thankful man should
be, and how grateful they should be that the
obstacle of a cracked bell had been overcome
and put right.

After the service local ringers were assisted
by the preacher, Mr. E. H. Langley and Mr.
Arthur Fidler, who had rehung the bell and
who was congratulated on what Messrs. Taylor
and Co. had done When the ringers got to
the Church Hall they found it crowded to the
doors for the concert and pasty supper.

STOWE-BY-CHARTLEY,
1.272 Kent T.B. Minor: I. Sheffield (first of T.B.) t.
J. WeUings 2, P. Johnson 3. G. Pick 4. J. B.
Holden 5. P. Davies (condj 6.

STAFFS.—On Oct. 9th.



November 3, 1967

THE RINGING WORLD

Three Counties Festival —250 Attend

HPHE long-awaited Three Counties Festival, to

commemorate the 21st anniversary of the
formation of the Derby Diocesan Association,
the Leicester Diocesan Guild, the Midland
Counties Guild and the Southwell Diocesan
Guild fiom the old Midland Counties Asso-
ciation, was held at Derby on September
16tn, and proved to be a most successful and
happy occasion.

From quite early morning ringers began to
approach Derby, along four routes, on which
a wide selection of towers was kindly made
available for ringing  The buffet “lunches
arranged en route by local ringers and their
wives at Heanor and Sawley were much ap-
preciated  Gradually the ringers from the
three counties, with visitors = from further
afield, assembled at DerbE/, and good use was
made of the four local towers during the
afternoon and early evening.

The centre of the festival was the service of
Evensong in the Cathedral Church of All
Saints at 5 p.m. With a congregation of
some 250 present, the singing was led by a
choir of over 50 ringer-choristers, drawn from
the th.ee counties, and directed by Mr. R.
Carlisle, choirmaster of St. Leodeganus' Parish
Church, Basford, Nottingham. he office of
Evensong was sung by the Rev. R. D. St
John Smith, Rector of Darley Dale, and the
address was given by the Provost of Derby,

the Very Rev. R. A. Beddoes, who is presi-
dent of the Derby Diocesan Association.
During the service a touch of Stedman

Cingues was run%_on handbells by members
of the Leicester Diocesan Guild, and the ser-
vice concluded with the Blessing given by the
Lord Bishop of Derby.

BATH AND WELLS ASSOCIATION

Bath and Frome Branches

Sunshine, sunshine all the way—that was the
theme, but not the weather, unfortunately,
when Bath and Frome Branches made history
at Beckington (8) on October 14th, by holding
their autumn quarterly meetings together in
place of the usual annual “ get together." The
success of the venture was evidenced by the
high attendance of members of both Branches
and the idea will be repeated next year.

Coincidentally, both Branches were without
their chairman, but George Hawkins steered
Bath ably and quickI?/ through their business,
determined not to hold up the Frome Branch.
After a shuffle round in the hall the Frome
Branch held its meeting under a quiet and
efficient John Beck. Frome Branch members
were equally determined not to raise contro-
versial issues and thus delay Bath members
from getting back to the tower. All in all it
was most unusual, and one or two Bath mem-
bers who were looking forward to the usual
Frome fireworks were distinctly disappointed.
Bath, Chew and Frome Branches have all
agreed to a “ p'ay-off 7 of the winning and
second teams in each of their striking com-
petitions and this event should be one well
worth attending.

Both Branch secretaries had extra copies cf
“ The Ringing World ” for sale, which features
Long Sutton tower—it is hoped that all these
will be sold.

Best remark of the day: “ Bristol? Good
heavens, | thought it was bad rounds by
learners 1” M. H.

LISS PIGEON MENACE

The pigeon menace at Liss reminds Mr. E.
M. Langdon, of Sutton, Gloucester, of when
he was stationed at Longmore Camp, 20 years
ago, and spent many happy hours with Liss
ringers on_their practice nights and in service
ringing. The pigeon problem then occurred
and it was dealt with very effectively by a
ringer named “ Alan.” If he is still living.
Mr. Langdon is sure he
approached.

would help if

The evening activities, dinner and social
evening, were held at the Albion Restaurant.
A party of 175 including the Lord BIShOﬁ)S
of Derby and Southwell, sat down to the
dinner, with the Provost presiding. After an
excellent repast, the Provost proposed the
loyal toast.

k This_was followed by the toast of the even-
ing, “The Church and the Exercise,” which
was proposed by the Rev. R. D. St. John
Smith. In proposing the toast. Mr. Smith
recalled the old days of the M.C.A., and
many of the leading members and officers
of that Association. = He went on to con-
gratulate those concerned on the rapid pro-
cess made by the Societies which were the

‘offspring” of the M.C.A., and in which the
spirit of the old M.C.A. still lived. In con-
cluding, he pointed out that progress was not
to be measured only by the undoubted rise in
membership figures, but also by the increas-
ingly active part being played "by ringers in
%IL ashpects of the life and work of the

urch.

Speakers_who responded to the toast were
the Lord Bishop of Derby and Mr. Paul L.
Taylor of Loughborough.

The final event of a memorable, interesting
and happy day was the social evening; when
a programme of dancing_and games filled in
the lime remaining until 11 p.m.  This
programme was, naturally, enlivened by much
conversation amongst ringing friends, old and
new, which underlined the family spirit, always
so noticeable throughout the day.

The sincere thanks of all concerned will be

extended to Mr. Denis Carlisle and his
colleagues who were responsible for the
arrangements, and to the Provost of Derby

for his ready co-operation.

BARKINGSIDE RINGERS IN KENT

Barkingside ringers took five cars on their
outing into Kent, visiting Brenchley, Goud-
hurst and Cranbrook. A picnic lunch by a
haystack included hot dogs cooked over a
primus stove and washed down with cider.
The rain did not spoil the spirit of the
occasion.

Cuxton (the last tower) was difficult to
locate and some of the partK succeeded in
ringing at the wrong tower. There was a very
warm welcome from the Rector, who is a
ringer. Evening prayers were said by the
Rector and included the collect for the 18th
Sunday after Trinity — “ to withstand the
temptations of the world, the flesh and the
devil "—a thought for the homeward journey
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COVER FOR LECTURERS
AT LINCOLNSHIRE

RINGING COURSE

Approximately 70 people attended the half-
day bell ringing course at Ruskin%]ton County
Secondary School on October 14th.

The students, who were welcomed to the
course by Dr. Golby, director of education,
Kesteven, were allocated to beginners or
advanced groups and received class room
lectures on the theoretical side of bell ringing.
Practical sessions were carried out using
the six bell towers of Ruskington and nearby
Blankney.

A short term insurance cover was arranged
to protect lecturers against possible claims
which could have arisen. due to student in-
juries in the tower practice periods. We are
pleased to report no mishaps occurred, but
considered the insurance an essential safe-
guard.

The classroom lecturers were Messrs. Evans,
Hepﬁenstall and Radley, and thellecturers
in the towers were Messrs. Bluff, Bray, Haw,
Millhouse and Parker.

During the evaluation period the assembly
confirmed that they had improved their
knowledge of bell ringing and expressed the
wish that further courses be organised in the
future.

Thanks are due to the Kesteven authority
for sponsoring the course and the provision
of excellent school facilities, the incumbents
of Ruskington and Blankney who allowed the
use of the bells and the ladies WhoFFrepared
the tea. . J.R.

Gratefully Acknowledged
The Editorial Committee acknowledges with
gratitude the following donations towards the
cost of producing “The Ringing World” :—
. Personal.—University of Wales 6s., Bishop’s

Cornwall Tour £1, A.R.P. 10s, Roving
Ringers 2s. 9d.
Peals. — Cowbridge 4s., Binfield 3s.,,

Avylestone 4s.. Brightwell 3s., Crewkeme 3s. 6d.

Quarter Peals.—Merriott 3s., Whitchurch
3s., St. Albans 3s.,, Rainham 3s., Chewton
Mendip 4s., Barton St David 3s., Alton 4s.,
Greenwich 9s., Wrexham 5s., Ealing 2s. 6d.,
Goldhanger 5s,, Norton Subcourse 2s., Darley
Dale 8s, Lanchester 3s. 6d., Halesowen 4s.,
Bath 4s., Grittleton 5s., Harborne 4s., Kingl:
stone 3s., llton 3s,, Monken Hadley 2s. 6<T,
Redhill 4s., Barkingside 5s., Thorncombe 4s,,
London ?Waterloo) 2s.. Warwick 4s., Norwich
3s., Mould 6s., Great Marlow 5s, Portsmouth
4s,,  Wotton

Underwood 2s., Wiveliscombe

5s. Stow 3s.. Sheffield 6s,, Evercreech 5s,,
Ashtead (2) 8s., Ewell 4s., Loughton 4s,
Stafford s., Chichester 5s., Farmborough
2s. 6d, Norton St. Philip 3s.,, Congresbury

4s., Westbourne 6s,, Ockham 3s.. Burstow 5s.,
Windsor 2s. 6d., Cleator Moor 5s.

BELFRY GOSSIP

East Farleigh, Kent, has had its ringing
limited to Sunday and practice night. Move-
ment of the frame is the suggested cause.

Ingham, Suffolk, has no ringers. The North
West District has arranged for the bells to be
rung on the fourth Sunday of the month.

Mr S. Smith, on holiday from New Zealand,
rang his first quarter of Major at Kirby-le-
Soken, Essex, on October 15th. This is his
first holiday home since emigrating in 1912.

Correct J)rices for bellringers’ ties supplied
by the Aldershot Stores, 35, Grosvenor Road.
Aldershot, appear on page 803.
details in last week’s issue.

Mr. Alick Cutler has now rung 350 peals
on the bells of St. Mary’s, Willesden. Has
this record been surpassed? Canon Felstead,
in his article in this issue, gives the 12 towers
where this is possible

“Having taken ‘The Ringing World’
regularly since the ver%/ first issue, | find it
more interesting now than it has ever been.”
—Gilbert H. Harding. A sincere “thank you”
from the Editor.

Please ignore

In the ]Peal at Ruardean, published on page
179I Geoffrey J. Clarke was ringing his first
peal.

The ringer of the sixth in the peal at Great
Tey (page 739) was lan R. Panton and not
James L. Towler as submitted.

The ringer of_ the third in the peal at
Brenchley’\}page 760) was Simon A. B. Wigg
and not Malcolm Barden as submitted.

Mr. Walter Ayre rang his 900th peal on
October 14th on the same bell at Barton-on-
Humber as he rang his first peal. It was
also his 200th for the Lincoln Diocesan Guild.

In a quarter peal at Blunsdon, Wilts, on
October 22nd, J. Vincent, a chorister and
ringer at this church for more than 60 years,
was ten times the age of the treble ringer
(Anne Ford, aged 81

The band who rang the quarter of Stedman
Triples at New Alresford wish to associate
Miss Prisca Hornby with the attempt. It had
been arranged specially for her but owing to
a last-minute indisposition she was unable to
ring. They hope that she will soon be well
again, when perhaps another attempt may be
arranged.



798

Bellfounders'

DONATED BY

MEARS & STAINBANK,
WHITECHAPEL BELL
FOUNDRY, LONDON, E.1

EPILOGUES ON TYNE-TEES TELEVISION

In September last in the course of his week-
end in Durham and Newcastle for the 90th
anniversary celebrations of the Durham and
Newcastle Diocesan Association, Canon Gil-
bert Thurlow not only preached in the two
Cathedrals but he also recorded three epilogues
for Tyne-Tees Television describing some of
the work of cathedrals. Several different
cathedrals were mentioned in his illustrations.

“ Cathedrals and Ringing ” is to be trans-
mitted on Saturday, November 4th, by Tyne-
Tees Television. This epilogue begins with the
bells of Durham Cathedral and ends with

those of Newcastle Cathedral. The former
were recorded between 5 and 6 p.m. on Satur-
day, September 23rd. and the latter before
Evensong the following day. In his talk

Canon Thurlow outlines the development of
rin1ging. o

ransmission dates have yet to be arranged
for “ Cathedrals and Pilgrimages” and
" Cathedrals and Education.” Transmission
dates are awaited also for three epilogues
recorded earlier in September by Denis
Bayles as part of the Tyne-Tees series “ My
Job in the Church.”

Unfortunately not very many ringers are
likely to see these six epilogues as they are
unlikely to be transmitted by other programme
companies, and stamina is needed for the
“locals ” as transmission takes place about
midnight! D.A.B.

DEDICATION OF THE LATE MAURICE
ATKINS’” HANDBELLS

At a simple but moving ceremony in the
belfry of 'St. Michael’s, Teignmouth, on
September 12th the Rev. Mr.  Folland, of
Teignmouth, dedicated the handbells of the
late Maurice Atkins to the use of the local
ringers. Mr. Brian Shingler, a former captain
of the tower, read a message from Capt. A.
R Poyntz, who was unable to attend owing to
indisposition. Among the company of friends
frdm Babbacombe and Torquay " were Mrs.
Maurice Atkins and a nephew of the late Mr.
Atkins. Followin? the dedication a course
of Grandsire Triples was rung on the hand-
bells by G. J. Roberts 1—2 P. A. Lock 3—4,
W. Simmonds 5—6, D. J. Roberts 7—S8.

BEAMINSTER BELLS

While the correct weight of Beaminster
tenor bell was disclosed at the Harvest Supper
on October 7th the competition of guessing
the weight was well supported outside the
locality. ~ The weight was
Taylor in a sealed envelope and was 22 cwt.
1qr. 27} Ib. The £10 prize was won by Mrs.
M. Fordham, of Thornley Road, Felixstowe,
Suffolk, who was ilb. out.

The bells will be brought back to Beaminster
on November 13th and will be rehallowed b
the Bishop of Salisbury the Rt. Rev. Jose
Fison, at Evensong on December 17th. The
fund has £357 to go to reach the target. The
Barron Bell Trust have generously donated
£250.

elivered by Messrs.

SURPRISE AT HENLEY

At Henley practice night on October 12th
we had an unusual experience. During the
evening a course of Plain Bob Minor was
about to be started. As our conductor,
Howard Egglestone, pulled his bell down from
his first backstroke, a mouse landed at his
feet, causing a certain amount of excitement!
In ne_arI){1 forty gears of ringing | have not
seen it happen before, and 1 hate to think
what would have happened if this had
occurred during a peal. S.B.
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BELFRY GOSSIP

FIRST PEAL OF STEDMAN TRIPLES AT
COMBE MARTIN

In September, 1907, Challis F. Winney called
a peal of Stedman Triples (Thurstans') <t
Holy Trinity, Ilfracombe. It is interesting to
note that the footnote to that peal reads:
“ The first peal of Stedman on the bells.”
Also in the tower was the Rev. F. E. Robin-
son, who conducted Thurstans’ peal of Sted-
man Triples in 1905, that peal also being
recorded as “the first of Stedman on the
bells.” One wonders of the tale behind the
linging of these two peals.

nyhow, Derek Jewell thought it would
be appropriate to commemorate the 60th an-
niversary of Mr. Winney’s peal, but owing to
the duration of the ringing at the Devon As-
sociation’s six-bell final in June, permission was
withdrawn.  (Why the public of Ilfracombe
complained of such such splendid ringing is
beyond the comprehension of the writer.)

However permission was readily given at
Combe Martin, where a peal of Stedman had
not been rung, in spite of previous attempts.
So we arrived at the “ Top George” at 9
p.m. on Friday evening, September 8th, and
there to welcome us was Les Walters and
Derek. Les having had a most successful
season, we drank to the strawberries, rasp-
berries, peas, beans, “ teddies” and the
Bigeons, and went to bed very mellow and
rimful of confidence for the morrow.

Quite a good peal was rung on the Saturday,
conducted by young John Hibbert, and Derek
was most delighted to ring in the first of
Stedman on his own bells. Our thanks to
Roy Bould, Bob Southwood and Frank Mack
for making the long drag from South Devon
in the holiday traffic.

We had our annual attempt for Stedman
at Pilton and. as usual, our annual failure.
This year “ Dear Old Dad’s” son, having
completed his slow work, made thirds then
went back and pushed everyone out of his

way.

Xgain we thank North Devon and Cornwall
for a most happy holiday. Who knews, next
year we may ring our Stedman at Pilton, but
“ Dear Old Dad’s” son is adamant that he
will be outside, listening. D.J.

A LOSS TO KENT RINGING

His many ringing friends in Kent will regret
to learn that Mr. Bernard Groves intends to
leave Kent and return to his native Cheshire
in the New Year. He is continuing his duties
as co-Ringing Master of the Maidstone Dis-
trict until his departure. Bernard’s seven and
a half years in Kent has greatly enhanced the
standard of ringing, particularly in the Maid-
stone area.

SIXTY AND SEVENTY YEARS AFTER

It must have been quite by coincidence that
the Truro Diocesan Guild, having been
founded on October 8th, 1897, for the first
peal for the Guild to be rung in Cornwall
exactly ten years afterwards, on October 8th,
1907, at Kenwyn, being a peal of Superlative
conducted by George Williams. This was only
the second peal for the Guild; the first was at
Emmanuel, Plymouth, in August, 1907.

As these 60th and 70th anniversaries fell
on a Sunday a peal was not possible, but a
quarter peal (recorded in the appropriate place)
was rung at Kenwyn and was one of Kent
and Oxford Treble Bob Major conducted by
the president, Alan Carveth. It is interestinﬁ
to note that aptrt from the treble ringer a
those taking part have learned their ringing
at the three towers associated with Truro—the
Cathedral, Kenwyn and Kea.

November 3, 1967

Ringing World'

DONATED BY

JOHN TAYLOR & CO.,
LOUGHBOROUGH,
LEICESTERSHIRE

STRANGE BELLS AROUND
CIRENCESTER

One result of the recent course at Chelten-
ham was more immediate—an organisers' and
lecturers’ ringing afternoon and evening in
the Cirencester area, the main purpose being
10 convince Fred Sharpe that Ampney Crucis

bells really do sound 1, 3, 3, 4, 5.
According to Ellacombe, Daglingworth‘s

r

tower contains a Rudhall four, ut  we
discovered a Warner treble, 1877 (listed as
1787 in the ringing chamber), the 3rd by

Mears, 1887 and new tackle by Llewellin and
James in 1912. As only three of our party
as had yet assembled, Fred Sharpe promptlhf
turned his back on the ladies and raised bot
tenors simultaneously. Our efforts brought
two local ringers hastening up the staircase
and we were then able to ring “properly.”

After joining the Watermoor ringers in
Stedman Triples for a wedding, promptly los-
ing first Marie Cross and then Fred Sharpe
and his family in Cirencester’s one-way streets,
we journeyed to Coin St. Denys, where the
Wrattens awaited us. A franfic search for
the oil can was of no avail, but the five went
surprisingly well when rung “at full sally.”
The Rector, who joined us with his wife and
family, promised to oil the bells before our
next visit.

Ampney Crucis at last, and Fred’s first
words as he set the treble were, “They do.
I didn’t believe him (W.F.S.).” Unfortun-
ately ihe key to the bell chamber was not
available and so we were unable to verify the
Sharpe theory as to why the 2nd and 3rd are
virtually the same note. The effect of these
two bells behind is worth hearing. Dismissing
Marie’s suggestion that we rang “Cagmag.’
we settled for St. Faith’s. A return visit
is imperative.

Then to Down Ampney, the birthplace of
Vaughan Williams, where” the 2nd proclaims:
“Abraham Rudhall cast us all 1097,” nearly
700 years before he cast the others! We found
these the hardest going of the day; hardly
surprising since they have tackle of 1843 and
even older rope rollers.

We rounded off the day with a meal at the
Crown at Ampney. and a determination to
organise a similar outing in the near future.

MAIDSTONE’S “REVIEW”

The Maidstone District of the Kent Countv
Association has produced an attractive annual
report 